
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT  
DISTRICT OF CONNECTICUT 

 
___________________________________ 
EILEEN PARLATO,   : 
      :  CIVIL ACTION NO.: 
  Plaintiff,   : 
      :  3:22-cv-1094 (    )                                   
v.      :       
      : 
TOWN OF EAST HAVEN and   : 
EAST HAVEN FIRE DEPARTMENT, : 
      : 
  Defendants.   :  August 30, 2022 
____________________________________: 
 

COMPLAINT 

I. INTRODUCTION 

1. During her nearly 17 years as a Battalion Chief for the East Haven Fire Department 

(EHFD), Eileen Parlato was the only female supervisor and one of only three women in a 

department of 52 employees.  Before her role as Battalion Chief, she was a firefighter for 12 years.   

2. In the Summer of 2021, when Ms. Parlato had been a Battalion Chief for 16 years, 

the role of Assistant Chief became available, and Ms. Parlato applied.  But rather than choosing 

Ms. Parlato – who was the most experienced and objectively most qualified candidate – the EHFD 

instead elevated to the role a male applicant who had been a Battalion Chief for just 11 months.  

That decision was the culmination of EHFD Chief Matthew Marcarelli’s sexist campaign to 

sabotage Ms. Parlato’s application for the Assistant Chief role in favor of her far less experienced 

male colleague.  And that campaign, in turn, built on decades of sexism and misogyny at EHFD. 

3. Accordingly, Ms. Parlato now sues the Town of East Haven and the East Haven 

Fire Department for its failure to promote her based on her sex, in violation of Title VII, 42 U.S.C. 

§ 2000e et seq.; the Connecticut Fair Employment Practices Act (CFEPA), Conn. Gen. Stat. 
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§ 46a-60; and the Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment, pursuant to 42 U.S.C. 

§ 1983. 

4. Ms. Parlato demands a jury trial on all claims so triable. 

II.  JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

5. The Court has subject matter jurisdiction over this action under 28 U.S.C. § 1331. 

6. Venue is proper in this District under 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b)(2), because the events 

or omissions giving rise to the asserted claims occurred herein. 

7. This Court has supplemental jurisdiction over the plaintiff’s state law claims, 

pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1367, because they form part of the same case or controversy as the federal 

law claims. 

III. PARTIES 

8. The plaintiff, Eileen Parlato, is a natural person who resides in East Haven, 

Connecticut. 

9. Ms. Parlato is female. 

10. The defendant, the Town of East Haven, is a town organized pursuant to the laws 

of the State of Connecticut. 

11. The defendant, the Town of East Haven, maintains a fire department, to wit, the 

defendant East Haven Fire Department.  The East Haven Fire Department provides services to the 

Town of East Haven by protecting and serving its citizens and their property. 

12. At all relevant times discussed herein, the Town of East Haven and the East Haven 

Fire Department were Ms. Parlato’s employer within the meaning of Title VII and the CFEPA. 

13. The Town of East Haven and the East Haven Fire Department employ more than 

20 employees. 
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IV. EXHAUSTION OF ADMINISTRATIVE REMEDIES 

14. The plaintiff filed a complaint with the Connecticut Commission on Human Rights 

and Opportunities (CHRO).  The complaint was dual filed with the federal Equal Employment 

Opportunity Commission (EEOC). 

15. The CHRO complaint was filed in a timely manner insofar as it was filed within 

180 days of the defendants’ last discriminatory acts against the plaintiff. 

16. The plaintiff received a Release of Jurisdiction from the CHRO and EEOC, dated 

July 20, 2022 and July 21, 2022, respectively.   

17. The plaintiff filed this Complaint within 90 days of her receipt of the Release of 

Jurisdiction from the CHRO and the EEOC. 

V. STATEMENT OF FACTS 
 

A. The EHFD Has a Long History of Discriminating Against Women.  For 
Ms. Parlato, That Discrimination Began Thirty Years Ago when the 
Department Tried to Prevent Her from Becoming Its First Female 
Firefighter. 

18. The EHFD’s conduct – not only in failing to promote Ms. Parlato over her 

objectively less qualified male counterpart, but in manipulating the promotional process from start 

to finish to achieve its goal – is a product of a long history of sex discrimination at the EHFD.  

19. Ms. Parlato’s first brush with the EHFD’s discriminatory animus against women 

began three decades ago when she first sought a job as a firefighter. 

20. Ms. Parlato scored quite well on the written exam, but after the applicants were 

awarded military and volunteer credits, her rank was pushed down to 13.  Twelve firefighters were 

hired off that list.  She was next.   

21. During this time, the then-Chairman of the Board of Fire Commissioners was not 

shy about expressing his belief that women should not be firefighters and his determination that 
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none would be hired under his regime.  Upon information and belief, he and others concocted a 

scheme to avoid hiring Ms. Parlato, the only female candidate on the list.  Since the test she took 

expired on its two-year anniversary, the male leaders conspired to stall any decision to hire 

additional firefighters until after that deadline. 

22. When a meeting to hire a new round of firefighters was scheduled one month before 

the two-year expiration deadline, the Chairman and the other Commissioners refused to appear in 

order to prevent a quorum.  Fortunately (at least from Ms. Parlato’s perspective), the Chairman 

unwittingly shared his unlawful scheme with someone who had a close relationship with Ms. 

Parlato.   

23. When Ms. Parlato learned of the Chairman’s intentions, she retained a lawyer.  

Shortly thereafter, the New Haven Register published an article revealing the Chairman’s plan to 

stonewall the hiring of a female firefighter.  The meeting then took place with a quorum, and Ms. 

Parlato joined the EHFD in December 1993 as the EHFD’s first female firefighter. 

B. Ms. Parlato Serves the EHFD for Almost Three Decades, Amassing Deep 
Experience in Service and Leadership.   

24. Ms. Parlato served as a EHFD firefighter for 12 years.  In 2005, she took the written 

exam to become a Battalion Chief (“BC”) and scored higher than any other candidate.  Indeed, her 

written exam results were so much higher than the next candidate that, barring failure of the oral 

exam, no one could replace her as top candidate.  

25. In 2005, Ms. Parlato became the first female BC in the history of the EHFD. 

26. Ms. Parlato has served as a BC since 2005.  Although the EHFD does not provide 

formal performance reviews, her stellar performance history is undisputed.   

27. Ms. Parlato’s accomplishments and contributions during her tenure include: 

receiving a Unit Citation and the award as East Haven Rotary Club Firefighter of the Year; being 
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voted by the Union as one of two people to represent EHFD as founding members of the CT 

Firefighter’s Peer Support group; training all personnel, both career and volunteer, on new 

scheduling and electronic patient reporting software programs; training newly promoted Captains 

on new scheduling and National Fire Incident Reporting system as administrators; increasing the 

department’s revenues to allow for the purchase of new medical equipment and other items; and 

overseeing a program that garnered huge sums of money for the Town. 

C. Chief Marcarelli Takes the Helm and Continues EHFD’s Long History of 
Marginalizing Women.  

28. In 2017, Matthew Marcarelli became EHFD’s new Fire Chief.   

29. The EHFD remained a man’s world under Chief Marcarelli’s leadership.   

30. Although Chief Marcarelli stated in an interview shortly after he was hired that his 

“number-one priority” was to hire new employees to address a significant staffing shortage, he 

hired only one woman.   

31. As of June 1, 2022, Ms. Parlato was one of three women in the EHFD out of 52 

employees.  One of the two other women was a transgender female who transitioned after she 

became a firefighter.   

D. Ms. Parlato Possesses Far More Experience and Qualifications Than the 
Male Candidate whom the EHFD Ultimately Promotes to Assistant Chief. 

32. In or about September 2021, the EHFD had an opening for the position of Assistant 

Chief (“AC”).  The only two internal candidates who applied for the position were Ms. Parlato and 

a newly minted BC (the “Male Candidate”).     

33. The Male Candidate worked as a civilian dispatcher; became a firefighter in 2005; 

held that position until he was promoted to BC in October 2020; and held that position until, 11 

months later, he was chosen over Ms. Parlato to become AC.   
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34. Historically, a newly-appointed BC was not put in charge of the same crew on 

which he had just served as a firefighter.  Chief Matthew Marcarelli, however, decided to assign 

the Male Candidate to the same crew on which he had just served as a firefighter.    

35. The night of the Male Candidate’s promotion to BC, Chief Marcarelli told him that 

he would make an excellent AC.  The Male Candidate responded in substance that he should be 

given some time to be a BC.    

36. Before his promotion to BC, the Male Candidate had no supervisory experience at 

the EHFD.  In a span of less than 12 months, he skyrocketed from supervising no one to supervising 

11 people as BC to supervising more than 50 as AC.   

37. Ms. Parlato helped train the Male Candidate on how to perform his role as BC and 

had been supervising employees for approximately 16 years.   

38. In addition to her dispatch certifications, Ms. Parlato is also an Emergency Medical 

Services Instructor, a CPR Instructor, and a CT Emergency Medical Technician Practical 

examiner. 

39. Upon information and belief, the Male Candidate lacks these certifications, 

training, education, or experience.   

40. Not only was Ms. Parlato well-versed in the duties and responsibilities of the BC 

position, but she had also been performing key portions of the AC’s job for years.  Indeed, the 

prior AC (Chuck Licata) and Ms. Parlato collaborated frequently, and Mr. Licata sought out Ms. 

Parlato to partner with him on significant projects.  For example, together they researched and 

purchased a new electronic patient care reporting system.  They built the system together and 

shared responsibilities for maintaining it, putting calls through and compiling medical reports.   

They also collaborated on purchasing another electronic health reporting system and scheduling 
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system.  They also regularly discussed employees and how to address their concerns and maximize 

their contributions.   

41. Always eager to find ways to strengthen the EHFD and expand her knowledge base, 

Ms. Parlato also assumed AC duties on her own.  For example, the Department installed iPads in 

the EHFD in order to communicate helpful dispatch information.  Ms. Parlato learned the system 

and became the lead person to address any questions or problems.    

42. In February 2018, after a conversation with Chief Marcarelli, Ms. Parlato 

uncovered a training issue that was depleting funds in an account which was used to pay employees 

who worked additional shifts.  The Chief was looking to propose that the Town add Captains and 

was hoping to bolster his proposal with the monies in this account.  With the Chief’s approval, Ms. 

Parlato contacted the billing agent, determined what was needed to make a call billable, and then 

developed a training program to guide firefighters on understanding what constitutes a billable 

call.  She worked with the Deputy Chief/Training Officer to implement the changes.  After that 

training went live, the EHFD’s deposits in that account began to grow. 

43. When Ms. Parlato first identified the problem, the account received approximately 

$1,000 per month; it now averages $25,000 per month.  Since that time, Ms. Parlato has served as 

the liaison with the billing agent, a responsibility that is part of the job description for the AC.   

44. In contrast, in the Male Candidate’s 11 months on the job as BC, he had not 

assumed any of the duties stated in the AC’s job description. 

45. In addition to her deep qualifications and experience for the AC position, Ms. 

Parlato and her family have significant and lasting ties to the community.   She is a lifelong member 

of East Haven.  Her father was on the Town Council for almost 30 years and was Chairperson for 

most of that time, and both of her parents are Mayor’s Merit Award winners for their volunteerism 
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in the town.  Ms. Parlato has followed in their footsteps and volunteers with numerous town 

organizations as well.   

46. Upon information and belief, the Male Candidate’s ties to the East Haven 

community were far less extensive.  He was a volunteer firefighter for a short period of time but 

was not well known within the community. 

E. The Current AC Retires and Envisions Ms. Parlato as His Successor; Chief 
Marcarelli Has a Different Agenda.   

47. When Mr. Licata broached the topic of his own retirement, he discussed with Ms. 

Parlato his belief that she would be his natural successor.  Ms. Parlato had already informed Chief 

Marcarelli that she was interested in becoming the AC when Mr. Licata stepped down.  On 

August 31, 2021, following Mr. Licata’s formal announcement of his impending retirement, the 

EHFD posted for the AC position.    

48. Thereafter, Chief Marcarelli himself drafted a new job description for the AC role.  

In that description, he drew a game-changing distinction between the supervisory experience 

required of an internal candidate versus an external one.  External candidates were required to have 

“15 years of experience with a similarly sized or larger department, which includes ten (10) years 

of progressively responsible supervisory experience” and must currently hold the “rank of 

Battalion Chief or above” (emphasis added).  Internal candidates, in contrast, needed to have only 

“ten years with the EHFD” – regardless of whether they had any supervisory experience at all 

during those years – as long as they “currently [held] the rank of Captain above.”  

49. Had the same 10 years of supervisory experience been required of internal 

candidates, the Male Candidate – who had only 11 months of such experience – would not have 

been eligible to serve as the AC.   
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50. During the August 2021 monthly Board of Fire Commissioners’ meeting – in an 

echo to the scheme concocted by the former Fire Commissioner to prevent Ms. Parlato from 

becoming a firefighter – Chief Marcarelli began laying the groundwork for his own plan to prevent 

her from becoming Assistant Chief.  Since she was far more qualified than the Male Candidate 

(the only other likely internal candidate), and since EHFD historically preferred to promote 

internal candidates where possible, Chief Marcarelli took pains to ensure that the disparity between 

them would appear less stark to the Board, which would make the selection. 

51. Upon information and belief, Chief Marcarelli falsely informed the Board that he 

did not know if there was any interest in the AC role among the ranks and, therefore, that the 

posting should also be made available to external candidates.   At the time Chief Marcarelli made 

this claim, not only had Ms. Parlato directly expressed an interest to him about the AC position, 

but one of her colleagues had also told the Chief Ms. Parlato was interested in the job.  The Board 

nonetheless relied upon Chief Marcarelli’s representation and opened the posting to external 

candidates.   

52. Thereafter, the Male Candidate and Ms. Parlato applied and were initially joined 

by at least five external candidates.  Upon information and belief, one of the external candidates 

later withdrew from consideration after he learned that there were already two internal candidates 

because he felt strongly that such promotions should come from within.  

53. Chief Marcarelli then took his next step toward ensuring Ms. Parlato would be 

denied the promotion she sought.  Historically, applicants for the AC had taken a written exam, an 

objective measure of a candidate’s qualifications for the position.  Now, though, for the first time 

ever, the Chief announced that candidates for this AC position would submit only to an oral 

examination.   
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54. Chief Marcarelli then hand-picked the three individuals who would comprise the 

panel of interviewers for the oral examination.   

55. Upon information and belief, these individuals were leaders in fire departments in 

which not a single woman held a leadership position.   

56. The oral examination was held at Town Hall.  Although Ms. Parlato was not 

familiar with any of the interviewers, she was able to respond to all their questions easily and 

comprehensively and felt quite good about her performance during the exam.   

57. After Ms. Parlato’s exam, she was in the parking lot speaking with the Male 

Candidate, who was to be interviewed next.  As they were talking, Chief Marcarelli drove into the 

parking lot, got out of his car, and entered Town Hall.  The Male Candidate then also entered the 

Town Hall for his exam.  After the Male Candidate’s exam, both he and Chief Marcarelli arrived 

at Fire Headquarters within minutes of each other, and both entered the Chief’s office, where they 

closed the door. 

58. When the Male Candidate finally emerged from Chief Marcarelli’s office to relieve 

the other BC who had been covering him, the Male Candidate informed one of the BC’s that he 

had struggled to answer one of the questions at the oral exam and that one of the subject matter 

experts prompted him with additional information so that he could properly answer the question.    

59. When Ms. Parlato relieved the Male Candidate for that night, he reiterated that same 

account to her, that he had difficulty answering a question until one of the Chiefs saved him by 

providing him with additional information he needed to properly answer it.  He also referred to the 

interviewers who comprised the panel by their names and appeared to know all of them. 
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F. EHFD Denies Ms. Parlato the Opportunity to Interview with the Board of 
Fire Commissioners, Claiming It Based Its Decision on Three Factors: Her 
“Accomplishments,” “Fire Department Leadership Experience,” and 
“Performance in the [Oral] Interview Process.” 

 
60. After the oral examination, Ms. Parlato received a letter informing her that she 

would not proceed to the next round in the interview process.  The letter provided three purported 

reasons for this decision that were apparently of equal weight: “This decision was based on overall 

accomplishments as delineated in the resume, fire department leadership experience and 

performance in the interview process.” 

61. The Male Candidate and the other BC were stunned to learn that the EHFD had not 

moved Ms. Parlato on to the next level of interviews and even more shocked to learn the three 

purported reasons why.   

62. One of Ms. Parlato’s fellow BCs observed that the reason given regarding her fire 

department leadership experience as purportedly lacking was particularly absurd.  The Male 

Candidate agreed and later stated that he had been “ready for that question” during his oral exam.   

63. The Male Candidate then revealed that the examining board had asked him: “You 

are up against someone with 15 years more experience than you.  What makes you the better 

applicant?”  Upon information and belief, that question was not among the approved list of exam 

questions that the interviewers were supposed to ask.   

64. In order to fairly evaluate candidates in an oral exam, it is important that each 

interviewee be asked the same questions and that the interviewers do not assist the interviewees in 

answering any of the questions. 

65. Even though the AC exam is not a Civil Service exam and therefore all candidates 

could have been passed onto the next step, which was to meet with the Board of Fire 

Commissioners, the EHFD chose not to invite Ms. Parlato to meet with the Board and instead to 
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move forward only with the Male Candidate – the only internal candidate – and two external 

candidates who were less familiar with East Haven protocol and procedure.    

66. Had Ms. Parlato been given the opportunity to appear before the Board of Fire 

Commissioners, her leadership experience, overall accomplishments, and ability to speak fluently 

about all matters of concern regarding the EHFD – especially when compared to the Male 

Candidate – would have made her the clear choice for AC.   

67. Chief Marcarelli guaranteed that Ms. Parlato would not be chosen as the next AC 

by depriving the Board of Fire Commissioners of the opportunity to consider her.  And so, 

notwithstanding the false representation that EHFD denied her this opportunity because of her 

purported lack of accomplishments, leadership experience, and performance on the oral exam, 

Chief Marcarelli sealed her fate (and that of the Male Candidate) by denying Ms. Parlato the 

chance to appear before the Board.     

68. The Board chose the Male Candidate over the two external candidates, and on 

October 23, 2021, he was sworn in as the EHFD’s next AC. 

G. EHFD’s Failure to Promote Ms. Parlato to AC Is a Product of an 
Environment that Is Overtly Hostile to Women. 

 
69. In hindsight, the selection of a strikingly less qualified Male Candidate over Ms. 

Parlato is not surprising.  The elevation of the Male Candidate to the AC role was the inevitable 

product of a male-dominant environment in which men have all the power, avoid hiring women at 

all costs, and go out of their way to deny any women who do get hired the support they need to 

succeed.    

70. One of the three women firefighters at the EHFD is a transgender woman.  In 2021, 

the all-male EHFD leadership team refused to assign this firefighter a partner at the remote station 

to which she was assigned.    
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71. In or about July 2021, Ms. Parlato accurately informed the Male Candidate, who 

was then the union president, that the EHFD’s failure to assign another employee to work with this 

firefighter was a violation of the union contract and asked him to take steps to remedy it.  The 

Male Candidate’s response was in substance: “The Chief doesn’t agree with you and neither do I.”  

72. After this pointed conversation with the Male Candidate, Chief Marcarelli’s 

behavior toward Ms. Parlato morphed from friendly and conversational to downright cold.   

73. During this same timeframe, as Chief Marcarelli and Assistant Chief Licata were 

walking out of the firehouse, they were discussing a female activist in town.  As the Chief was 

walking and looking down at his phone, he apparently did not see Ms. Parlato standing there and 

called the female activist the “C” word.  When the Chief looked up and saw her, he apologized.  

The AC looked surprised and uncomfortable. 

74. More recently, EHFD leadership demonstrated once again its bias against women 

in its choice of discipline of two probationary firefighters who had committed comparable 

infractions.  One of the probationary firefighters was male, the other female.  The male firefighter’s 

issue was handled informally, in Chief Marcarelli’s office with union representation.  In contrast, 

the female was formally called before a Board with the town’s labor attorney, the Chief, the AC, 

and others. 

H. Ms. Parlato Informs the Town that She Believes She Was Subjected to Sex 
Discrimination; the Town Retaliates Against Her. 
 

75. On or about November 30, 2021, counsel for Ms. Parlato sent a letter to the Town, 

informing the Town of the allegations set forth above.   

76. Before the letter, Chief Marcarelli would greet Ms. Parlato and engage in friendly 

conversation.  After the letter, Chief Marcarelli no longer addressed Ms. Parlato unless it was 

absolutely essential.    
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77. Further, after she brought her sex discrimination allegations to light, Chief 

Marcarelli excluded Ms. Parlato from key aspects of her job.  By way of example only, on 

March 25, 2022, the Captain of Ms. Parlato’s crew in an outlying station expressed his concern to 

her about a firefighter who did not feel well and was extremely tired.  Ms. Parlato drove to the 

station and talked to the Captain, who stated he didn’t have any suspicion that the firefighter was 

under the influence of anything.   

78. Ms. Parlato then talked to the firefighter.  He was coherent, articulate, not slurring 

his words, not nodding off while talking, and did not have the odor of alcohol on his breath, nor 

were his pupils abnormal.  He stated he was tired and did not feel well.   

79. Ms. Parlato relieved the firefighter of duty and backfilled his shift.   

80. The Chief called her work phone and asked what was going on, and she informed 

him they had a firefighter who did not feel well and that neither the Captain nor Ms. Parlato had 

any reasonable suspicion to believe he was under the influence.  Ms. Parlato then spoke to the 

Training Officer who stated he would drive the firefighter home.   

81. A few hours later, Ms. Parlato called the Captain to see if the sick firefighter got 

home safely.  He shared with her that Chief Marcarelli arrived at the station and asked the 

firefighter to submit to a drug test.  The Chief and the union vice president then drove him home.   

82. Ms. Parlato had not been notified of any of the above actions even though they 

involved a member of her crew.  The first official notification she received about this incident was 

days later in an email that was addressed to all command staff.   

83. By way of another example, a firefighter reporting to Ms. Parlato told her that the 

Chief had approached him and asked him if he wanted to be transferred to another station.  When 
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the firefighter expressed an interest, the Chief told the firefighter to send an email to the Chief 

requesting the transfer.   

84. In the past, the Chief would have consulted with Ms. Parlato, asked for her thoughts 

on a transfer he was considering, and taken them into consideration before making the final 

decision. 

85. The Town and EHFD have also retaliated against Ms. Parlato through JP Vasilko, 

her long-time significant other and the father of her children.   

86. Mr. Vasilko is employed by the East Haven Department of Public Works as a 

laborer.  As the grievance chairperson of his union, he is involved in negotiations of the union’s 

collective bargaining agreement.   

87. In early April 2022, Dave Ryan, attorney for the Town of East Haven, and the 

negotiating committee for the Public Works union participated in a meeting.  Mr. Vasilko could 

not attend that meeting.   

88. Upon information and belief, during this meeting, Mr. Ryan falsely accused Mr. 

Vasilko of talking to department heads about the contract and his purported intent to vote it down.  

Had such a conversation occurred, it would have been improper and a potential violation of the 

ground rules regarding confidentiality during the negotiation process.   

89. Later that month, Mr. Ryan and HR Director Michelle Benivegna met with Mr. 

Vasilko.  Mr. Ryan immediately admitted that Mr. Vasilko had not engaged in such conduct and 

“had done nothing legally wrong.” 

90. The Town and EHFD have also retaliated against Ms. Parlato by investigating the 

EMT certification and recertification classes she ran with former Assistant Chief Chuck Licata.   
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91. Ms. Parlato and Mr. Licata used the East Haven Adult Education building (with the 

permission of the principal) to run these classes because the principal liked to have classes for 

adults.  The students paid for the classes directly.    

92. Upon information and belief, in or about April 2022, Mr. Ryan questioned Mr. 

Licata about these classes and, thereafter, called the Board of Education to question how he and 

Ms. Parlato got paid for their classes.   

93. Thereafter, upon information and belief, the principal of Adult Education wrote a 

letter confirming that Mr. Licata and Ms. Parlato were not paid through the Town.   

I. Faced with a Significant Reduction in Her Benefits in Her Role as Battalion 
Chief, Ms. Parlato Retires from EHFD. 

 
94. The collective bargaining agreement (“CBA”) between the Town and Local 1205 

of the International Association of Fire Fighters – the union to which Ms. Parlato belonged (the 

“Union”) – expired on or about June 30, 2021.   

95. The Town and the Union were negotiating a new CBA, but to date, no agreement 

has been signed. 

96. Ms. Parlato and other retirement-eligible Union members reasonably believed that 

the new CBA would reduce the benefits that the Town agreed to provide to the Union members, 

including especially those for new retirees.   

97. In or about December 2020, with the CBA due to expire in or about June 2021, and 

up to 15 EHFD employees eligible for retirement, the Town and the Union signed a Voluntary 

Separation Agreement Memorandum of Understanding (the “MOU”).   

98. Per the MOU, certain Union members (including Ms. Parlato) retained the 

retirement benefits in the CBA set to expire in 2021, but only if those members retired during 

specified two-week periods in July 2022 and July 2023.  
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99. Per the MOU, if the member retired in July 2022, the member received a one-time 

incentive payment of $12,000; if the member retired in July 2023, she received a one-time 

incentive payment of $6,000. 

100. In order to retain the retirement benefits for which she had worked for nearly 30 

years, and to maximize the incentive payment under the MOU, Ms. Parlato prepared to retire from 

EHFD in July 2022.  

101. As it happened, though, as Ms. Parlato prepared to retire, she learned that the cost-

of-living adjustment (“COLA”) for her retirement benefits – which are calculated based on the 

present rate of inflation and which compound from year to year – likely would be greater than 6% 

for the fiscal year running from July 1, 2022, to June 30, 2023.  (In contrast, if she did not retire, 

Ms. Parlato was likely to receive a raise of only 2%.)   

102. In order to benefit from the high COLA for her retirement benefits – which in turn 

would significantly increase her retirement benefits in every subsequent year – Ms. Parlato would 

need to retire before the fiscal year started on July 1, 2022.   

103. Accordingly, on June 18, 2022, Ms. Parlato reasonably but with great sadness 

retired from EHFD.  

104. Had Ms. Parlato been promoted to AC, she would not have had to choose between 

keeping her job and protecting her retirement benefits.  Instead, she would have had an individual 

employment contract with the Town, would not have had to make predictions about future benefits, 

and would not have been compelled to retire. 
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VI.     LEGAL CLAIMS 

FIRST CLAIM FOR RELIEF: 
SEX DISCRIMINATION, IN VIOLATION OF TITLE VII, 
42 U.S.C. § 2000E ET SEQ. – FAILURE TO PROMOTE – 

ASSISTANT FIRE CHIEF POSITION – AS TO BOTH DEFENDANTS 
 

105. The plaintiff incorporates by reference all preceding allegations in this Complaint 

as if fully pled in this Count.  

106. Ms. Parlato’s sex was a motivating factor in the Town of East Haven and East 

Haven Fire Department’s failure to promote her to the position of Assistant Fire Chief. 

107. The Town of East Haven and East Haven Fire Department’s conduct in this regard 

was willful and/or in reckless disregard to Ms. Parlato’s right to be free from discrimination. 

108. As a result of the Town of East Haven and East Haven Fire Department’s conduct, 

Ms. Parlato suffered damages. 

SECOND CLAIM FOR RELIEF: 
SEX DISCRIMINATION, IN VIOLATION OF THE CONNECTICUT FAIR 

EMPLOYMENT PRACTICES ACT (CFEPA), CONN. GEN. STAT. § 46A-60 ET SEQ. – 
FAILURE TO PROMOTE – ASSISTANT FIRE CHIEF POSITION –  

AS TO BOTH DEFENDANTS 
 

109. The plaintiff incorporates by reference all preceding allegations in this Complaint 

as if fully pled in this Count.  

110. Ms. Parlato’s sex was a motivating factor in the Town of East Haven and East 

Haven Fire Department’s failure to promote her to the position of Assistant Fire Chief. 

111. The Town of East Haven and East Haven Fire Department’s conduct in this regard 

was willful and/or in reckless disregard to Mr. Parlato’s right to be free from discrimination. 

112. As a result of the Town of East Haven and East Haven Fire Department’s conduct, 

Ms. Parlato suffered damages. 
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THIRD CLAIM FOR RELIEF: 
SEX DISCRIMINATION, IN VIOLATION OF THE EQUAL 
PROTECTION CLAUSE, PURSUANT TO 42 U.S.C. § 1983 –  

AS TO BOTH DEFENDANTS 
 

113. The plaintiff incorporates by reference all preceding allegations in this Complaint 

as if fully pled in this Count.  

114. As detailed fully in the preceding allegations, the Town of East Haven and East 

Haven Fire Department have a persistent, widespread, longstanding official policy and/or custom 

of sex discrimination against female firefighters with respect to their terms and conditions of 

employment that was so persistent and widespread as to constitute a custom or usage with the 

force of law in violation of the Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment. 

115. Chief Marcarelli was at all relevant times acting pursuant to this widespread, 

longstanding official policy and/or custom. 

116. Chief Marcarelli was at all relevant times acting under color of law as a final 

policymaking official, and his conduct in denying the plaintiff her right under the Equal Protection 

Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment to be free from sex discrimination is attributable to the 

Town of East Haven and East Haven Fire Department. 

117. The plaintiff was qualified for the position of Assistant Fire Chief. 

118. The plaintiff suffered an adverse employment action due to her failure to be 

promoted to the position of Assistant Fire Chief. 

119. The plaintiff’s failure to be promoted to Assistant Fire Chief occurred under 

circumstances giving rise to an inference of unlawful discrimination, in that the Town of East 

Haven and East Haven Fire Department intentionally treated the plaintiff differently from other 

similarly situated employees, and she suffered disparate treatment during the promotional process 

for Assistant Fire Chief, because of her sex. 
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120. The plaintiff’s failure to be promoted to Assistant Fire Chief occurred as a result 

of the Town of East Haven and East Haven Fire Department’s policy and custom of sex 

discrimination, Chief Marcarelli’s actions pursuant to that policy and custom, and/or the actions 

of Chief Marcarelli as a final policymaking official, in violation of the Equal Protection Clause 

of the Fourteenth Amendment. 

121. The plaintiff was therefore denied her right under the Equal Protection Clause of 

the Fourteenth Amendment to be free from discrimination on the basis of sex.  

122. As a result of the conduct of the Town of East Haven and East Haven Fire 

Department, the plaintiff suffered damages. 

FOURTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF:   
RETALIATION, 

IN VIOLATION OF TITLE VII, 42 U.S.C. § 2000 ET SEQ. –  
AS TO BOTH DEFENDANTS 

 
123. The plaintiff incorporates by reference all preceding allegations in this Complaint 

as if fully pled in this Count.  

124. The Town of East Haven and East Haven Fire Department retaliated against the 

plaintiff because of her participation in protected activity – namely, her complaint of sex 

discrimination in the Assistant Fire Chief promotional process. 

125. The Town of East Haven and East Haven Fire Department’s conduct in this regard 

was willful and/or in reckless disregard for the plaintiff’s right to be free from retaliation. 

126. As a result of The Town of East Haven and East Haven Fire Department’s conduct, 

the plaintiff suffered damages. 
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FIFTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF:   
RETALIATION, 

IN VIOLATION OF THE CONNECTICUT FAIR EMPLOYMENT PRACTICES 
ACT (CFEPA), CONN. GEN. STAT. § 46A-60 ET SEQ. –  

AS TO BOTH DEFENDANTS 
 

127. The plaintiff incorporates by reference all preceding allegations in this Complaint 

as if fully pled in this Count. 

128. The Town of East Haven and East Haven Fire Department retaliated against the 

plaintiff because of her participation in protected activity – namely, her complaint of sex 

discrimination in the Assistant Fire Chief promotional process. 

129. The Town of East Haven and East Haven Fire Department’s conduct in this regard 

was willful and/or in reckless disregard for the plaintiff’s right to be free from retaliation. 

130. As a result of The Town of East Haven and East Haven Fire Department’s conduct, 

the plaintiff suffered damages. 

*  *  * 
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WHEREFORE, the plaintiff respectfully prays that this Court award the following 

damages: 

1. Economic damages; 
 

2. Compensatory damages;  
 

3. Punitive damages; 
 

4. Appointment to the position of Assistant Chief or in the alternative front pay 
damages; 

5. Reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs; and 
 

6. Such other relief as may be just and equitable. 
 
RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED, 

       THE PLAINTIFF 
 
      By:       /s/ Nina T. Pirrotti                          
       Nina T. Pirrotti (ct26792) 
       Joshua R. Goodbaum (ct28832) 

Betsy A. Ingraham (ct27820) 
       GARRISON, LEVIN-EPSTEIN, 

FITZGERALD & PIRROTTI, P.C. 
405 Orange Street 
New Haven, CT  06511 
Tel.:  (203) 777-4425 
Fax:  (203) 776-3965 

       npirrotti@garrisonlaw.com 
       jgoodbaum@garrisonlaw.com 
       bingraham@garrisonlaw.com 
 

Please enter our appearances on behalf of the Plaintiff in this matter. 
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